IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-1942

WALTER GOLDBERG and ROSALIE GOLDBERG, as Co-Personal Representatives of the Estate of JILL HEATHER GOLDBERG, deceased,

VS.

FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT CO.,

Respondent.	
	/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

GROSSMAN & ROTH, P.A.
925 South Federal Highway, Suite 775
Boca Raton, Florida 33432
-andPODHURST ORSECK, P.A.
25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382

By: JOEL D. EATON

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The petitioners, Walter Goldberg and Rosalie Goldberg, in their capacity as copersonal representatives of the Estate of Jill Heather Goldberg, were plaintiffs below in a wrongful death action against Florida Power & Light Co. (FPL), seeking redress for the death of their 12-year old daughter. Jill was killed in an intersection collision which occurred during rush hour, at a dangerous intersection and under exceptionally dangerous environmental conditions, after FPL purposefully disabled the traffic lights controlling the intersection and then failed to take any precautions for the safety of motorists approaching the uncontrolled intersection.

The case was tried to a jury before the Honorable Juan Ramirez, Jr., in March, 1999. In its verdict, the jury found that FPL was a negligent cause of Jill's death, and that the drivers involved in the collision had exercised reasonable care under the confusing and deceptive circumstances confronting them -- and it awarded Mr. and Mrs. Goldberg past and future damages totaling \$37,350,000.00 (R. 229). FPL's post-trial motions were denied; judgment was entered in the full amount of the jury's verdict; and FPL appealed to the District Court of Appeal, Third District (R. 242, 282, 295, 298, 537, 654, 656).

Judge Ramirez provided a thorough and thoughtful explanation for his denial of FPL's post-trial motions (R. 656). Relying upon *McCain v. Florida Power Corp.*, 593 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1992), he rejected FPL's contention that it owed no duty of care to Jill, concluding instead that it had a duty to protect or warn motorists of the

dangerous condition it had created when it deliberately disabled the traffic lights. Relying upon *McCain* once again, he further concluded that, given the adverse conditions confronting the motorists, the accident was "entirely foreseeable," rather than a "bizarre occurrence," and that the evidence was therefore sufficient to support the jury's finding of fact on the issue of proximate causation.

The panel that initially heard FPL's appeal (Judges Cope, Goderich, and Shevin) agreed with Judge Ramirez on these issues, and quoted his lengthy post-trial order in full. *Florida Power & Light Co. v. Goldberg*, 856 So.2d 1011, 1012-26 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003). Relying upon *McCain*, the panel added: "... [T]he FPL employee's conduct, in disabling the light, created a foreseeable zone of risk to the driving public. . . . FPL had a duty to exercise reasonable care to protect the motorists it placed at risk by this conduct." 856 So.2d at 1027. And relying upon both *McCain* and *Palm Beach Cty. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs v. Salas*, 511 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1987), it also agreed that, given the adverse conditions, the accident was foreseeable, rather than "utterly unpredictable," and that the evidence was therefore sufficient to support the jury's finding of causation. *Id*.

The panel also noted that the jury was properly instructed, in the language of Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Civ.) 4.11, that the drivers' failure to treat the uncontrolled intersection as a four-way stop was merely evidence of negligence, not negligence as a matter of law, and that it need not find either driver negligent simply because the pertinent traffic regulations may have been violated. And it concluded that, because the intersection was "exceptionally dangerous," and because the drivers were

confronted with a "confusing, unusual and deceiving situation," Judge Ramirez did not abuse his discretion in ruling that the jury's exoneration of the drivers was not against the manifest weight of the evidence. 856 So.2d at 1028. The panel therefore affirmed the judgment to the extent that it established FPL's liability for Jill's wrongful death. However, it accepted FPL's position that the damage awards were excessive, and it ordered a remittitur of the damage awards to \$10,000,000.00, or in the alternative (at the Goldbergs' election), a new trial on damages.

Five members of an abbreviated en banc court (Judges Schwartz, Levy, Gersten, Greene, and Fletcher) -- with the initial panel dissenting -- disagreed with their brethren on the liability issues and concluded in a very cursory opinion (per J. Schwartz) that FPL was entitled to judgment in its favor *as a matter of law*. ¹/₂ 856 So.2d at 1033-34. First, it held:

No Duty. Under Martinez [v. Florida Power & Light Co., 785 So.2d 1251 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001), quashed, 863 So.2d 1204 (Fla. 2003)], of which we entirely approve, the power company owed no common law duty and, for the reasons in Part III of Judge Cope's specially concurring opinion, no "contractual" duty to the decedent to maintain current in the traffic light in question.

856 So.2d 1034. Whether Judge Ramirez and the panel erred in their conclusion on the real issue in the case -- whether FPL owed the quite different duty to protect or

As a practical matter, the vote was 5-4. Although Judge Ramirez was recused because he was the trial judge, his post-trial order was quoted in full in the panel's opinion. And less than the full court participated in the decision. Judge Jorgenson heard oral argument, but passed away in the interim. And Judge Wells, who was a member of the court at the time the decision was rendered, was apparently not invited to participate.

warn motorists of the dangerous condition it created when it disabled the traffic lights -- was simply not addressed.

The majority also followed a trilogy of Third District decisions holding that intersection collisions that occur when traffic lights are inoperative are unforeseeable as a matter of law and the actions of the drivers were therefore an efficient intervening cause, and it held that "no negligence with respect to the operation of the traffic light could have been a legal or proximate cause of the accident because it was causally superseded by the actions of the drivers actually involved in the collision." 856 So.2d at 1034. The majority concluded by reversing the Goldbergs' judgment "with directions to enter one for the defendant instead." *Id.*

In our jurisdictional brief, we demonstrated that *both* of the majority's holdings were in express and direct conflict with numerous decisions of both this Court and the other district courts of appeal. This Court thereafter granted discretionary review of the decision.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

According to *McCain v. Florida Power Corp.*, 593 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1992), both of the issues decided adversely to the Goldbergs by the en banc court -- the duty issue and the causation issue -- turn upon the foreseeability of the intersection collision that took Jill's life. The facts proven to the jury's satisfaction below are therefore of critical importance here. And because the Goldbergs received a favorable verdict below, we are entitled to have the evidence viewed in every light most favorable to the

verdict, with all conflicts resolved and all reasonable inferences drawn in their favor. *See Irven v. Dept. of Health & Rehabilitative Services*, 790 So.2d 403, 406 n. 2 (Fla. 2001). We will state the facts in that appropriate light. Because there is a great deal at stake here, we will also be thorough. And because we will have to argue the sufficiency of the evidence to support the verdict at some point in the brief, we will be somewhat argumentative as we proceed.

Friday, September 12, 1997, was a dreary, overcast day, characterized by continuous rain and drizzle and punctuated with thunderstorms (T. 77, 103, 196, 263-64, 402, 407, 450-51, 472, 487, 639-40, 643, 657, 669, 675, 734). Anticipating power outages from the weather, FPL had extra repair crews on duty (T. 183). Around 2:00 p.m., a thunderstorm belted the residential intersection of S.W. 67th Avenue and S.W. 120th Street in Pinecrest, and a lightning strike dropped a power line into the backyard of the Fishbein residence, the second residence in the southwest quadrant of the intersection (T. 70-78, 103-04, 187, 196, 674; PX. 2, PX. 9). The wire caused no significant damage; it merely burned a small area of grass, an inch and a half wide and ten feet long (T. 174). The downed line, which affected only the Fishbein residence and which did not affect the traffic signal lights at the intersection, was reported to FPL at 2:06 p.m. (T. 77-78, 103-04, 283, 546-48; PX. 2). FPL assigned Raymond Woodard, a line specialist with 30 years experience, to respond to the call (T. 70, 77-78). A Pinecrest police officer was the first to arrive at the scene (T. 78-80). Mr. Woodard arrived 39 minutes after the call, at 2:45 p.m. (T. 78, 88). He had worked the South Dade area for 30 years, and had been to the Fishbein residence 2½ weeks earlier, so he was familiar with the area (T. 70-76, 79, 92; PX. 1).

Mr. Woodard observed that the downed wire was dead, that the fuse for the line had blown, and that the line therefore presented no hazard (T. 82, 175-76). The police officer asked Mr. Woodard if he was needed; and although Mr. Woodard knew that he would have to leave the premises at some point to "open the jack" for the blown fuse (and perhaps a second fuse) as a safety precaution, he told the officer he was not needed, and the officer left (T. 79-83, 188). Dr. Fishbein told Mr. Woodard that he had to leave and did not want to leave the gate open, so Mr. Woodard radioed for assistance and remained in the backyard until others arrived (T. 83-85, 110). Although the repair would require only three people, six additional FPL employees arrived in five additional trucks (T. 83, 88-89, 177-78, 194-95, 551). There were therefore seven men on the scene -- and six large FPL trucks, which were equipped with two-way radios, flashers, hazard lights, and traffic cones (T. 71-72, 88-89, 172, 176-79, 581). The men also had portable, hand-held radios, and each of them had been trained in directing traffic when the circumstances required (T. 72, 100-01, 572-77).

In roughly the same time frame, the plaintiffs' 12-year old daughter, Jill, telephoned her mother, reported that her school track practice had been rained out, and asked that she be picked up (T. 450). Mrs. Goldberg obliged, and the two of them drove to Marshalls to buy Jill some accessories for a bar mitzvah she was attending the next day (T. 450). After additional assistance arrived at the Fishbein residence, Mr. Woodard walked to the pole containing the fuse for the downed line --

a route that took him out the front gate of the residence, east briefly on 122nd Drive, and then north for half a short, two-lot block on a bike path on the west side of 67th Avenue, directly toward the operable stop lights controlling the intersection of 120th Street and 67th Avenue (T. 85-86, 105-06; *see* PX. 9). The pole was located on the lot line between the residence on the southwest corner of the intersection and the Fishbein residence, a mere 100 feet or so from the stop lights (T. 208, 233; *see* PX. 9). Mr. Woodard used an "extendo stick" to "open the jack" of the blown fuse and returned to the Fishbeins' backyard (T. 82, 106). Although the lights remained operative and the view of the lights from the bike path and the pole was unobstructed, Mr. Woodard claimed not to have seen them (T. 87, 90-92, 112-13, 229; PX. 9).

According to one of the seven FPL employees on the scene, on a scale of one to ten, from relatively routine to critical emergency, the repair rated only a three (T. 180-81). The seven men conferred at some length and ultimately arrived at a "plan" to effect the repair of the downed line (T. 90, 181-82, 197). The "plan" involved opening a second fuse on the same pole, to prevent the possibility of a "backfeed" from a second line attached to the pole while re-rigging the downed line -- an action that everyone knew would cause an additional power outage for everything receiving electricity from the second line (T. 86-87, 90, 94-95, 182, 188, 537, 562-63). Although FPL had agreed to notify Pinecrest's Village Manager any time a planned outage would occur in the Village so police officers could be dispatched to direct traffic at intersections where traffic lights would be de-energized (an agreement upon which we

will elaborate in our argument), not one of the seven men who formulated the "plan" notified anyone of their intentions (T. 147-67, 304-06, 553-54).

There were a sufficient number of police officers available that afternoon so that an officer could and would have been dispatched to direct traffic at the intersection if the lights needed to be de-energized (T. 146, 156, 273, 293, 304-06, 310-11). The Village also had portable four-way stop signs that could have been placed at the intersection to control traffic if the lights were out (T. 146, 229, 293). As noted previously, FPL's employees were also trained in directing traffic when the circumstances required (T. 572-77). And warning flares or traffic cones could have been placed in the roadway to alert motorists of the danger (T. 229). In fact, the National Electrical Safety Code required these types of precautions if a traffic signal were to be de-energized (T. 228-29). And the intersection was *badly* in need of some type of warning or traffic control if the lights were to be de-energized, because it was one of the most dangerous intersections in Pinecrest (T. 145, 271-72, 788).

The intersection was exceptionally dangerous for a number of reasons. Both 120th Street and 67th Avenue were major arteries that cut through the heart of Pinecrest, and with the exception of the Village's intersections at U.S. 1, the intersection was the most heavily traveled intersection in the Village (T. 143-45, 271-72, 292-93; PX. 3). And unlike the intersections at U.S. 1, which were obviously intersections, the intersection of 120th Street and 67th Avenue -- but for the high-intensity traffic lights -- did not suggest to approaching motorists that it was a major intersection at all.

Both roads were two-lane roads, a single lane in each direction, located in a purely residential area; and there were homes, trees, and bushes on both sides of the road and on all four corners of the intersection (T. 159, 292; *see* PX. 9). And because of a homeowner's wall, two poles, and a large signal box on the southwest corner, there was virtually no line of sight available across that corner, and eastbound and northbound motorists were essentially blind to each other upon approach (T. 343-55, 771-73, 788; PX. 22, 23, 24). The Village had done an extensive survey of its roads and had concluded that the intersection would have been prone to numerous accidents if controlled by only a four-way stop -- and it is undisputed on the record that, because of the dangerous nature of the intersection, high-intensity traffic lights were "absolutely mandatory" to prevent accidents, notwithstanding their \$100,000 to \$150,000 cost (T. 145, 204-05, 271-72, 292-93, 788).

To carry out the "plan" arrived at by the seven FPL employees, Mr. Woodard made a second trip to the pole; he drove his "bucket truck" along the same route he had previously walked, directly toward the operable stop lights controlling the intersection (T. 85-86, 108-09, 112). He was aware that 67th Avenue was a busy street and that the intersection was busy at that time (T. 98).² Mr. Woodard stopped his truck at the pole, a mere 100 feet or so from the traffic signal; he raised himself in the bucket; and he opened the jack to the second fuse at the pole, knowing that it would

Inexplicably, although all seven employees involved in formulating the "plan" knew that it would cause a power outage in the neighborhood, six of them simply stood around in the Fishbeins' backyard; not one of them thought to accompany Mr. Woodard to assist him in determining what safety precautions might reasonably be required by the planned outage.

cause a power outage (T. 86-87, 90, 108-09, 208, 233). In the process, he deenergized the traffic lights at the intersection (T. 91-95).

The lights were shut off at 4:42 p.m. -- more than 2½ hours after FPL was notified of the downed wire, and nearly two hours after Mr. Woodard's 2:45 p.m. arrival at the scene (T. 77-78, 88, 226-27, 251; PX. 8). Mr. Woodard spent three to four minutes at the pole, with an unobstructed view of the traffic lights; he then maneuvered his truck back onto 67th Avenue (during which he had to look directly toward the inoperable traffic lights to clear traffic approaching from the north), and returned to the Fishbeins' backyard (T. 87, 98, 109, 229). He claimed to have been unaware of the existence of the lights or of the fact that he had de-energized them (T. 87, 92, 112-13).³

Indeed, that was FPL's principal line of defense. Its consistent position at trial (as explained to the jury in opening statement) was that "Roy Woodard did not know, could not have known and FPL did not know and could not have known that by deenergizing this particular power line . . . that that would de-energize the traffic control signals . . . " (T. 57-58). For their part, the plaintiffs did *not* contend that FPL owed a duty to provide a continuous supply of electrical current to the traffic lights, and they

A neighboring homeowner also lost power when the fuse was pulled (T. 126). Because she knew that the traffic lights went out when her power went out; because there had been prior accidents in those conditions and she knew the intersection to be a "a very dangerous corner"; and because she heard the screeching of tires and feared that another accident would happen, she telephoned FPL three times to report the inoperative signals (T. 126-35). All she got was an answering machine; no person answered her calls (*id.*).

did *not* contend that FPL was negligent in interrupting electrical power to the traffic lights. Their theory of liability was quite different and far simpler. Everyone agreed below that Mr. Woodard was required to pull the second fuse on the pole for the safety of persons repairing the downed wire in the Fishbeins' backyard. That Mr. Woodard deliberately pulled the fuse was also not in dispute. There was also no dispute that pulling the second fuse disabled the traffic lights at the intersection.

The plaintiffs' claim was that Mr. Woodard's profession of ignorance was not credible -- that he *knew* that he had disabled the traffic lights. Alternatively, the plaintiffs claimed that, even if Mr. Woodard's profession of ignorance *was* deemed to be credible, he was nevertheless negligent in not ascertaining that his action in pulling the second fuse would disable the traffic lights, and that he therefore should have known that he had disabled the lights. And on either version of the facts, the plaintiffs claimed that FPL was negligent when, after seven FPL employees planned the repair for nearly two hours, and after Mr. Woodard knew or should have known that the plan required disabling the traffic lights, FPL failed to take even the simplest precautions for the safety of motorists approaching the dangerous intersection during rush hour, under exceptionally dangerous environmental conditions. Judge Ramirez

-

⁴ In the law of torts, proof of "constructive notice" is every bit as acceptable as proof of "actual notice." Indeed, the phrase "knew or should have known" is a staple of tort law. See, e. g., Springer v. Morris, 74 So.2d 781, 785 (Fla. 1954) ("the prime foundation of liability in negligence cases is knowledge -- or what is deemed to be in law the same thing, opportunity by the exercise of reasonable diligence to acquire knowledge of the peril which subsequently results in injury"; emphasis in original), quoting Lindsay v. Thomas, 128 Fla. 293, 174 So. 418, 420 (1937); Feldstein v. City of Key West, 512 So.2d 217, 291 n. 5 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (same).

concluded that, viewed in a light most favorable to the plaintiffs, the evidence was sufficient to support the plaintiffs' claims (T. 809-12) -- and we believe the evidence fully supported that conclusion.

To begin with, Mr. Woodard made two trips to the pole, one while walking at a leisurely pace and one while driving his truck (presumably alert to conditions of the roadway ahead of him). He was facing the traffic lights on both occasions, and he had an unobstructed view of them from the time he turned onto the bike path and onto 67th Avenue until the time he stopped 100 feet or so short of them. And the high-intensity traffic lights were *fully operational* on both occasions. In our judgment, he could hardly have missed their presence, and at the least, these facts permitted the jury to draw a perfectly reasonable inference that he did not. ⁵/

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