IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WALTER GOLDBERG, etc., et al.	
Petitioners,	Supreme Court Case No.: SC03-1942
rlorida Power & Light Company, Respondent.	DCA Case No.: 3D00-63 L.T. Case No.: 97-24243-CA-27
Respondent Florida Power & 1	Light Company's Answer Brief

Aimee Fried, FBN 265160 FPL Law Department 9250 West Flagler Street Miami, FL 33174 Gary L. Sasso, FBN 622575 Hunter W. Carroll, FBN 0297630 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. Post Office Box 2861 St. Petersburg, FL 33731-2861

Attorneys for Respondent FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT CO.

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

Contrary to plaintiffs' contention, this case is different from <u>Clay Electric</u>, where the defendant had agreed <u>for consideration</u> to maintain the streetlights. The defendant there was bound to perform such a contract whether or not it had started to do so. Moreover, the duty that the defendant undertook to perform in <u>Clay Electric</u> was to maintain the street lights themselves, not a duty <u>once removed</u> to provide power to the entity that had actually undertaken to maintain the street lights (Dade County).

Further, any undertaking to notify the Village is highly attenuated from a duty to notify motorists, and, no matter how they are characterized, FPL's discussions with the Village could not have induced reliance on the part of the

Goldbergs or made them worse off than they would have been in the absence of any such undertaking.

More, as Judge Cope noted, the discussion between the Village and FPL "had to do with **planned** power outages. It made no reference to emergency service calls such as the one now before us." 856 So. 2d at 1032 (Cope, J., specially concurring) (emphasis in original). Judge Cope observed, "Within FPL parlance, the repair of a downed power wire is deemed to be an emergency from the time that FPL is notified until the time the repair is completed." <u>Id.</u>; (T. 198, 537).

Plaintiffs' response to this point is to rely upon a play of words, namely, testimony that FPL emergency work crews necessarily formulate a "plan" of attack for any emergency restoration they perform. (T. 90). Even viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs, however, a work "plan," is not the same thing as a "planned" or "scheduled" outage. (T. 90, 539-540). By seeking to convert all outages into planned outages, plaintiffs' argument plainly contradicts the Village representative's own admission that he did not seek notification of all outages, let alone outages arising in emergency situations. (T. 148-50, 162-64).

Finally, when they set out to deenergize the second power line, FPL's work crew did not subjectively appreciate that they were going to disable the traffic signal. Even if they had they provided notice to the Village of Pinecrest that they

intended to disable a power line, that would have indicated nothing about the traffic signal. Neither FPL, nor the Village of Pinecrest, maintained records that would have enabled them to determine that any given outage would affect any given signal. (T. 518-19).

In fact, Dade County, not the Village of Pinecrest, was the entity that monitored and maintained this traffic signal. (T. 209, 226-27, 286-88). In this connection, Dade County received instantaneous notification of a possible outage at this traffic signal on the day of the accident. (T. 226-27, 287-88). For this reason, plaintiffs relied upon the County's records at trial to pinpoint the precise time and duration of the traffic signal's failure. (T. 226-27). Yet, there is no evidence that the County acted upon this notice when it was first received.

Therefore, the Third District, en banc, correctly rejected plaintiffs' argument that FPL voluntarily undertook the duty to prevent the accident in this case.

F. Foreseeability is Necessary But Not Sufficient.

This leaves plaintiffs with the argument that "foreseeability," without more, gives rise to a legal duty. This Court in <u>Clay Electric</u> and <u>McCain</u>, and other cases like them, discussed foreseeability as an important consideration in determining whether to impose a legal duty. Certainly, a defendant should not be held to have a duty to take precautions against risks that are not foreseeable. But this is a far cry from holding that foreseeability, alone, supports the imposition of a duty in all

circumstances. If that were the sole consideration, then any defendant whose actions in some sense contributed to the occurrence of an injury will, with the benefit of hindsight, always be held to have owed a duty to the injured plaintiff, unless the injury violated the laws of nature, which should never occur. This is true because every injury that flows naturally from a course of actions will appear foreseeable, with the benefit of hindsight, in some general sense.

Further, this Court has held that the question of whether an injury was a "freak" occurrence should be considered at a second stage of the analysis, in considering proximate cause. See McCain, 593 So. 2d at 503. Thus, even "freak" accidents would give rise to a legal duty, if general foreseeability were dispositive. This means that a standard based on general foreseeability alone is no standard at all because so long as a defendant's actions were a "but for" cause of the injury, even in the case of "freak" accidents, the defendant would be held to owe a legal duty to the plaintiff and would thus face the expense, disruption, and exposure of litigation. The threshold legal requirement of "duty" exists precisely to separate out those cases that belong in court from those that do not, rather than to relegate every case to civil litigation.

For these reasons, courts must consider all the circumstances of the case, in Florida or anywhere else. If foreseeability were the sole consideration in all cases, this Court would have had no occasion in its very recent decision in <u>Clay Electric</u>

to discuss and analyze so closely the existence of an actual "undertaking" to protect the public and the various conditions necessary to impose liability on the basis of such an undertaking. The Court had no difficulty determining that the injury in that case would be a foreseeable consequence of a <u>breach</u> of the specific responsibility that the maintenance company had undertaken, but the Court appropriately focused as a threshold matter on the existence of the undertaking, itself, as the <u>basis</u> for the duty.

Plaintiffs assert, nonetheless, that this Court has dictated in a steady stream of decisions that foreseeability is the sole criterion for duty, regardless of the relationship between the parties or other circumstances in the particular case. To the contrary, in each of the cases plaintiffs cite, this Court either relied upon a special relationship between the parties in determining that a duty existed, or held, as in Clav Electric, that the defendant had assumed the duty in question. See Nova Southeastern Univ., Inc. v. Gross, 758 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 2000) (school/student relationship and undertaking to control student's actions); <u>Union Park Mem.</u> <u>Chapel v. Hutt</u>, 670 So. 2d 64 (Fla. 1996) (undertaking to lead funeral procession); Markowitz v. Helen Homes, 826 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 2002) (premises liability); Owens v. Publix Supermarkets, Inc., 802 So. 2d 315 (Fla. 2001) (same); Whitt v. Silverman, 788 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 2001) (same); Florida Power & Light Co. v. Periera, 705 So. 2d 1359 (Fla. 1998) (same); Kitchen v. K-Mart Corp., 697 So. 2d

1200 (Fla. 1997) (negligent "entrustment" by seller of firearm); <u>City of Pinellas Park v. Brown</u>, 604 So. 2d 1222 (Fla. 1992) (police motorists owe duty to other motorists). These cases, as a group, support rather than negate the necessity of examining the circumstances of each case to determine whether a sufficient relationship or undertaking exists to support the imposition of a legal duty.

Plaintiffs also cite Section 321 of the Restatement (Second) Torts for the proposition that a duty to protect others might be imposed upon an actor who becomes aware of facts sufficient to cause that actor to realize that he has placed others at peril by his actions. The comments to that section give the following three examples: a golfer hits the ball into an open fairway and then sees a bystander walk into its path, a driver becomes aware that his car has skidded into the path of oncoming traffic, and after a man loans his car to another he is told by his chauffeur that the steering is broken.

Section 321 of the Restatement may not be understood to suggest a different result in this case for at least four reasons: (1) the courts in Florida have consistently declined to impose liability upon electric utilities for failing to protect third parties from the predictable consequences of interruptions in power, (2) in none of the examples given, is the actor engaged in an activity that itself serves important public policy objectives, (3) in each of the examples, it may be said that the actor undertook to use due care for the protection of the plaintiff in the very

activity at issue at its inception, and the duty recognized is merely a continuation of that original undertaking (e.g., hitting a golf ball safely, driving safely, and undertaking to provide an operable vehicle to a friend), and (4) in each of the examples, the actor had actual knowledge that the very peril at issue had in fact arisen. Thus, Section 321 does not support plaintiffs' contention.

In this case, FPL did not stand in a direct relationship with the many persons who benefit in some indirect way from the availability of electric power that FPL supplies to its customers, nor did FPL undertake to provide protection to all such persons at any point in its endeavors. Rather, FPL undertook no more nor less than to perform emergency restoration work in a manner to protect residents and the workers engaged in that repair (which is not at issue in this case).

In fact, plaintiffs complain that this is all FPL's line crew undertook to do, arguing that they should have taken the <u>further</u> steps of either immediately restoring power, using the cones in their truck to direct traffic, or notifying law enforcement authorities of the need to direct traffic. As the Third District appropriately held, however, plaintiffs cannot properly rely upon FPL's <u>omission</u> of any undertaking to protect vehicular traffic as the very basis to impose a legal duty to provide such protection. Therefore, no legally cognizable duty existed.

The Third District's decision in this case thus is not only consistent with a long line of well-reasoned authority and bedrock principles of tort law, but it

respects lines of public policy that may be crossed only at great peril, and at the risk of troubling, unintended consequences. If there is a need to make such public policy decisions in this area, the matter is best addressed — or revisited, as the case may be, in view of existing traffic laws — by the Legislature, which can gather the necessary facts and take into account the broad panoply of public interest considerations implicated by these issues. For its part, the Third District appropriately rejected plaintiffs' entreaties to open Pandora's Box by creating new duties in an area where public utilities have long operated with certainty.

G. The Rationale for Exercising Jurisdiction Does Not Exist.

In the plaintiffs' jurisdictional brief, plaintiffs asserted that this Court has jurisdiction because the Third District relied upon its prior decision in Martinez v. Florida Power & Light Co., 785 So. 2d 1251 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001), which was then pending before this Court, and which has since been vacated and remanded for reconsideration in the light of this Court's decision in Clay Electric. See Martinez v. Florida Power & Light Co., 863 So. 2d 1204 (Fla. 2003). Plaintiffs contended that the Third District's reliance on Martinez gave rise to jurisdiction under this Court's decision in Jollie v. State, 405 So. 2d 418, 420 (Fla. 1981). See Pet. Jur. Br. at 5. Plaintiffs are mistaken.

This Court is well aware of the limited nature of its jurisdiction, which requires a finding that the decision under review "expressly and directly conflicts"

with another district court decision or a decision of this Court on the same question of law. See art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. This Court's decision in Jollie does not expand that jurisdictional basis. It indicates only that this Court has prima facie conflict jurisdiction when a district court's decision relies upon a decision that has since been reversed. See 405 So. 2d at 420. There must still be a finding of express and direct conflict to establish jurisdiction. See art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. When there is no conflict, this Court should discharge the review.

The en banc court's entire discussion of duty is:

No Duty. Under <u>Martinez</u>, of which we entirely approve, the power company owed no common law duty and, for the reasons in part III of Judge Cope's specially concurring opinion, no "contractual" duty to the decedent to maintain current in the traffic light in question.

Goldberg, 856 So. 2d at 1034 (en banc).

Putting to one side for the moment the court's reference to <u>Martinez</u>, for all the reasons we have given, nothing in the remaining discussion can fairly be described as being in express and direct conflict with any of the decisions cited by plaintiffs in their jurisdictional brief. So we must consider the significance of the court's citation to Martinez.

This Court's decision in Martinez did nothing more than vacate and remand the Third District's decision in that case for reconsideration in the light of <u>Clay</u>

<u>Electric</u>. <u>See Martinez</u>, 863 So. 2d at 1205. In both <u>Clay Electric</u> and <u>Martinez</u> the

defendants had undertaken a duty to maintain the street lights that the plaintiffs contended had been neglected. By contrast, in the case under review, FPL did not undertake to maintain the traffic signal at issue. This is evident from the four corners of the en banc decision. See Goldberg, 856 So. 2d at 1034. The en banc decision rejects on its face plaintiffs' contention that FPL had undertaken such a duty in this case.

This significant distinction demonstrates that the case under review is factually and legally different from <u>Clay Electric</u> and <u>Martinez</u>. Thus, there can be no conflict with, or misapplication of, <u>Clay Electric</u> or <u>Martinez</u>. <u>See, e.g.</u>, art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., and <u>Kaylor v. Kaylor</u>, 500 So. 2d 530, 531 (Fla. 1987) (review dismissed after oral argument because alleged conflict cases were factually distinguishable).

To be sure, if this Court were to grant rehearing in <u>Clay Electric</u> and recede from its ruling in that case, <u>a fortiori</u> FPL should prevail in this review. That is because <u>this</u> case presents a much more compelling case for the defendant than <u>Clay Electric</u>. But, by the same token, due to the critical differences we have described, this Court's adherence to <u>Clay Electric</u> would do nothing to cast doubt on the Third District's decision in this case. Moreover, for the same reason that <u>this</u> case presents a more compelling case for the defendant than in <u>Clay Electric</u> or

<u>Martinez</u>, the en banc court's <u>a fortiori</u> use of <u>Martinez</u> here does not suffice to create a genuine conflict.

While this Court's decision in <u>Jollie</u> superficially would appear to suggest that there might be jurisdiction, i.e., <u>prima facie</u> conflict jurisdiction, FPL has overcome the <u>prima facie</u> expression of jurisdiction by demonstrating conclusively that there is no express and direct conflict with any of the cited decisions, including <u>Clay Electric</u> and <u>Martinez</u>. This case simply does not present a situation where the defendant undertook a duty to maintain streetlights — rather it involves a situation <u>once removed</u> from the situation in those cases.

A finding of no conflict in this case would be bolstered by the policy underlying this Court's limited jurisdiction. After the creation of the district courts, this Court assumed the role "as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the preservation of uniformity of principle and practice[.]" Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1357-58 (Fla. 1980) (quotation omitted). This role continued after the 1980 amendment to this Court's jurisdiction. See id. at 1358. Where, as here, there is no conflict, there is no need to preserve "uniformity of principle and practice" as such uniformity already exists. Thus, the rationale underlying this Court's jurisdiction counsels against deciding this case, as the law is already stable.

This Court's exercise of jurisdiction in this case would be unnecessary for the further reason that there is no conflict with the Third District's separate and independent holding of no proximate cause. As there is no need for this Court to address the proximate cause issue, the plaintiffs effectively are requesting this Court to render an advisory opinion on the duty question. Accordingly, this Court should exercise its discretion and dismiss this review.

II. No Proximate Cause.

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